IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

S. Ct. No. 16–1333

Polk County Case No. LACL134859

MARLON MORMANN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

V.

IOWA WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT,

Defendants-Appellees.

APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT FOR POLK COUNTY THE HONORABLE DOUGLAS F. STASKAL

APPELLANT'S AMENDED FINAL BRIEF

Newkirk Zwagerman, P.L.C. Jill Zwagerman AT0000324 jzwagerman@newkirklaw.com 521 E. Locust Street, Suite 300 Des Moines, IA 50309 Telephone: (515) 883-2000 Fax: (515) 883-2004

Hedberg & Boulton, P.C.
Nathaniel R. Boulton AT0000992

nboulton@hedberglaw.com
100 Court Avenue, Suite 425

Des Moines, IA 50309
Telephone: (515) 288-4148

Fax: (515) 288-4149

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

I. THE DISTRICT COURT INCORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT MORMANN'S TIME FOR FILING AN IOWA CIVIL RIGHTS COMPLAINT WAS NOT TOLLED BY THE INABILITY TO OBTAIN VITAL INFORMATION REGARDING IOWA WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT'S ADMISSIONS OF AGE DISCRIMINATION UNTIL TRANSCRIPTS CONTAINING THIS INFORMATION WERE DISCLOSED TO THE PUBLIC.

Iowa Code § 216.15(13)

Iowa Admin. Code r. 161–3.3(3).

American Pipe & Constr. Co. v. Utah, 414 U.S. 538 (1974).

Buechel v. Five Star Quality Care, Inc., 745 N.W.2d 732 (Iowa 2008).

Callahan v. State, 464 N.W.2d 268 (Iowa 1990).

Chrischilles v. Griswold, 206 Iowa 453, 150 N.W.2d 94 (1967).

Dring v. McDonnell Douglas Corp., 58 F.3d 1323 (8th Cir. 1995).

Goodpaster v. Schwan's Home Serv. Inc., 849 N.W.2d 1 (Iowa 2014).

Harrington v. Toshiba Mach. Co., 562 N.W.2d 190 (Iowa 1997).

Hawkeye Foodservice Distrib., Inc. v. Iowa Educators Corp., 812 N.W.2d 600 (Iowa 2012).

Meier v. Senecaut, 641 N.W.2d 532 (Iowa 2002).

Miranda v. B & B Cash Grocery Store, Inc., 975 F.2d 1518 (11th Cir. 1992).

Oshiver v. Levin, Fishbein, Sedran & Berman, 38 F.3d 1380 (3d Cir. 1994).

Pippen v. State, 854 N.W.2d 1 (Iowa 2014).

Reeb v. Econmic Opportunity Atlanta, Inc., 516 F.2d 924 (5th Cir. 1975).

Ritz v. Wapella Cnty Bd. Of Supervisors, 595 N.W.2d 786 (Iowa 1999).

Sierra Club Iowa Chapter v. Iowa Dep't of Transp., 832 N.W.2d 636 (Iowa 2013).

Sanchez v. State, 692 N.W.2d 812 (Iowa 2005).

Shumate v. Drake Univ., 846 N.W.2d 503, 507 (Iowa 2014).

Steinke v. Kurzak, 803 N.W.2d 662 (Iowa App. Ct. 2011)

Vaught v. R.R. Donnelley & Sons Co., 745 F.2d 407 (7th Cir. 1984).

Wetter v. Dubuque Aerie No. 568 of the Fraternal Order of Eagles, 588 N.W.2d 130 (1998).

Oral Arguments, Iowa Supreme Court, September 14, 2016 available at http://www.iowacourts.gov/About_the_Courts/Supreme_Court/Oral_Arg ument Videos/2016 Videos/September 2016 Videos/.

II. IOWA WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT IS BARRED FROM RAISING A STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS DEFENSE BECAUSE IT DELIBERATELY MISLEAD MORMANN AS TO THE TRUE REASON FOR ITS DECISION NOT TO HIRE.

51 Am. Jur. 2d *Limitation of Actions* § 399.

Tigges v. City of Ames, 356 N.W.2d 503 (Iowa 1984).

Dring v. McDonnell Douglas Corp., 58 F.3d 1323 (8th Cir. 1995).

Christy v. Miulli, 692 N.W.2d 694 (Iowa 2005).

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case should be retained by the Iowa Supreme Court because it presents a substantial issue of first impression regarding equitable tolling and equitable tolling of the Iowa Civil Rights Act in discrimination cases. Iowa R. App. P. 6. 1101(2)(c). These legal principals are fundamental issues of public importance because they will impact the rights of employees who have experienced workplace discrimination and prevent employers from avoiding the legal consequences of their discrimination by purposely misleading employees. Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(d).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case comes before the Court on an interlocutory appeal from Iowa Workforce Development's Pre-Answer Motion to Dismiss. As such, the case has not been developed and the facts asserted in Marlon Mormann's Petition are taken as true. *See King v. State*, 818 N.W.2d 1, 9 (Iowa 2012). Mormann began working at Iowa Workforce Development (IWD) in November 1990. (App. 1). In January 2014, Mormann was working as an Unemployment Administrative Law Judge (ALJ) when he decided to put in an application for an open Deputy Workers' Compensation Commission position. (App. 2). Mormann did not get the position and after he sought out an explanation for why he was not selected, he was told the job went to a more qualified candidate and he was welcome to apply to future openings. (App. 23). It

was therefore reasonable for Mormann to rely upon this representation as the reason he did not get the position and indicated he had little reason to investigate further.

The true reason Mr. Mormann was not selected came out in a deposition for a separate the case. *See Godfrey v. State of Iowa, et al.*, 847 N.W.2d 578, 580–82 (Iowa 2017) (remanding the claims back to district court). (Def. Ex. A, Wahlert Dep. p. 244–45, App. 16). On September 17, 2014, Ms. Teresa Wahlert, Iowa Workforce Development Director, gave testimony in a video deposition and revealed that she had not consider Mormann as a viable candidate for the position because his age was too close to retirement. (App. 16–19). The transcripts of those depositions were not released to the public until March 18, 2015, when the Iowa Attorney General's office released all depositions taken in the *Godfrey* case. (App. 15). After learning the true reason Mormann was denied the position he filed a complaint with the Iowa Civil Rights Commission (ICRC) on May 5, 2015, alleging age discrimination against IWD. (App. 7–14).

_

¹ In support of its Motion to Dismiss, IWD filed exhibit A (Mormann's Civil Rights Complaints), which included a portion of a news story about the Attorney General's release of the *Godfrey* depositions and portions of the depositions. (App. 7–15). Mormann has no objection to the Court taking judicial notice of the date of the release and the contents of the relevant portions of the depositions.

² Mormann filed an amended civil rights complaint on June 24, 2015, to allege constructive discharge due to discrimination and harassment. (App. 24–33). However, given that the district court permitted Mormann's claim for constructive discharge to proceed this claim will not be discussed in this interlocutory appeal. (App. 68).

After receiving his right to sue letter Mormann filed his claim in Polk County District Court on March 29, 2016. (App. 2). Before filing an Answer, IWD filed a Motion to Dismiss Mormann's claims of age discrimination failure to hire and constructive discharge. (App. 36–43). Mormann argued the 300-day statute of limitation to file a claim pursuant to Iowa Code section 216 was tolled by both the doctrine of equitable tolling—because he was unable to discover the true reason for the decision not to hire him until March 18, 2015—and IWD should be precluded from raising the statute of limitation defense due to equitable estoppel—because Mormann conducted further inquiry as to the reason he was given the job and relied upon the IWD's misrepresentation. (App. 44–52).

The district court granted IWD's motion to dismiss as to Mormann's failure to hire claim, but allowed Mormann's constructive discharge claim to proceed. (App. 59–69). The district court determined that the statute of limitations had run on Mormann's ability to file a civil rights complaint for his failure to hire claim. (App. 62–67). The district court held that neither the doctrine of equitable tolling or equitable estoppel tolled the statute of limitations for Mormann's discriminatory failure to hire claim. (App. 62–68).

Mormann filed an Application for Interlocutory Appeal on August 8, 2016.

IWD filed its resistance and the Supreme Court granted the Application for Interlocutory Appeal on September 22, 2016.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Mr. Mormann worked for IWD until January 5, 2015. (App. 2). During his time with the IWD, Mr. Mormann worked as an ALJ both for the Iowa Workers' Compensation Commission and the Unemployment Appeals Bureau. (App. 2). While employed as an Unemployment ALJ, Mr. Mormann applied for an open Deputy Workers' Compensation Commissioner position in January 2014. (App. 2-3). At the time, Christopher Godfrey was the Iowa Workers' Compensation Commissioner and Teresa Wahlert was the Iowa Workforce Development Director. (App. 13–14). IWD did not select Mormann for the position and in a letter dated March 7, 2014, it stated Mormann was qualified but another candidate was chosen for the position and Mormann was *encouraged* to submit future applications. (App. 3, 23) (emphasis added). The position was given to a younger candidate, Erin Pals. (App. 34–35). Mormann tried to find out why he was rejected but Wahlert refused to provide a reason. (App. 29–33). Mormann continued to work as an ALJ until the harassment and discrimination became intolerable and he was forced to resign his employment with Iowa Workforce Development, an agency he had been with for approximately twenty-five years of his legal career. (App. 2, 4). Mormann last day of work was January 5, 2015. (App. 4).

Meanwhile on September 17, 2014, during other litigation Teresa Wahlert provided deposition testimony. (App. 3, 16–19). In relevant part Wahlert testified:

A. ... I was saying the first selection that Christopher selected for this particular position and that I didn't necessarily agree with whoever came in second with the scoring process that's used for these positions.

I believe Mr. Godfrey asked me what my issues were. And I said that it really wasn't important unless we got to the point where he wanted to offer the job for Marlon Mormann. So I never stated what my opinions were at the time.

Q. Why did you not agree with it?

A. There were a number of reasons due to the operation of the office.

Q. What office?

A. The statements that Marlon Mormann had made to people and during his interview that he thought he was going to retire. And so I was concerned that training and time would be invested and that perhaps more of a conversation needed to be had to be sure that that investment was appropriate for the long-term.

(App. 18–19).

Unfortunately, there was no way for Mormann to discover the contents of these depositions because they were under district court gag order. (App. 3–4, 13). The Iowa Attorney General's office decided to release the transcripts of the depositions on March 18, 2015. (App. 3, 15). Shortly after learning the true reason he was not selected for the position of deputy commissioner—his age—Mormann filed a complaint with the Iowa Civil Rights Commission on May 5, 2015, alleging age discrimination. (App. 9–14). Further, despite attempting to gather more

information regarding the circumstances surrounding IWD's decision to deny him the deputy position, Mormann was not successful in obtaining any further information because Godfrey and others with knowledge were still involved in ongoing litigation which added obvious delay to their ability to discuss matters litigation while the consulted with related the attorneys. See Iowa Supreme Court Oral Argument Schedule, Sept. 4, 2016 available at http://www.iowacourts.gov/wfData/files/Schedule/September%202016%20Schedu <u>le.pdf</u>. This regrettably did not occur before the district court ruled on IWD's motion to dismiss. However, given the evidence that was before the district court, a conceivable set of facts could have included the premise that during litigation Mormann would have uncovered the extent to which IWD undertook efforts to cover up its discriminatory acts and Mormann's inability to discover these reasons sooner without asking and expecting other to violate court orders in the ongoing Godfrey litigation, thus sufficing the fairly low standard required to survive a motion to dismiss under notice pleading. See Hawkeye Foodservice Distrib., Inc. v. Iowa Educators Corp., 812 N.W.2d 600, 608-09 (Iowa 2012) ("Nearly every case will survive a motion to dismiss under notice pleading.").

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On May 5, 2015, Mormann filed a complaint with the ICRC for discrimination based on age and amended his complaint on June 24, 2015, to include a claim for

constructive discharge. On March 29, 2016, Mormann filed a petition in Polk County alleging age discrimination, harassment, and constructive discharge in violation of the ICRA.

On May 2, 2016, IWD filed a pre-answer Motion to Dismiss on all issues. Mormann filed his resistance to the Motion to Dismiss on May 11, 2016. The district court held arguments on the motion to dismiss on June 8, 2016. On July 7, 2016, the district court granted IWD's motion to dismiss on Mormann's age discrimination claim and denied the motion on Mormann's harassment and constructive discharge claims.

On August 8, 2016, Mormann filed an application for interlocutory appeal with the Iowa Supreme Court. On August 11, 2016, Mormann filed a Motion to Reconsider and Enlarge Findings on the district court's motion to dismiss ruling. IWD filed its resistance to Mormann's motion to reconsider on August 18, 2016. On August 22, 2016, IWD filed its resistance to Mormann's application for interlocutory appeal. The district court filed its Order denying Mormann's motion to reconsider on September 8, 2016. The Supreme Court granted Mormann's application for interlocutory appeal on September 22, 2016.

I. THE DISTRICT COURT INCORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT MORMANN'S TIME FOR FILING AN IOWA CIVIL RIGHTS COMPLAINT WAS NOT TOLLED BY THE INABILITY TO OBTAIN VITAL INFORMATION REGARDING IOWA WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT'S ADMISSIONS OF AGE

DISCRIMINATION UNTIL TRANSCRIPTS CONTAINING THIS INFORMATION WERE DISCLOSED TO THE PUBLIC.

A. Preservation of Error.

Mr. Mormann preserved error on all issues raised in this appeal by filing a written resistance to IWD's pre-answer motion to dismiss. *See Meier v. Senecaut*, 641 N.W.2d 532, 537 (Iowa 2002) ("It is a fundamental doctrine of appellate review that issues must ordinarily be both raised and decided by the district court before we will decide them on appeal."). Error was also preserved by Mr. Mormann's motion to reconsider and enlarge the district court's findings. Mr. Mormann's resistance, motion to reconsider and IWD's motion to dismiss and resistances to Mr. Mormann's motion to reconsider gave the district court the opportunity to consider the issues raised on appeal. *Id*.

B. Standard of Review.

The standard of review for appellate review of a district court's grant of a motion to dismiss applies to all issues herein. The Iowa Supreme Court reviews "the district court's grant of a motion to dismiss a petition for correction of errors at law." Sierra Club Iowa Chapter v. Iowa Dep't of Transp., 832 N.W.2d 636, 640 (Iowa 2013), (as revised on denial of reh'g July 15, 2013). "A motion to dismiss should only be granted if the allegations in the petition, taken as true, could not entitle the plaintiff to any relief." Sanchez v. State, 692 N.W.2d 812, 816 (Iowa

2005) (emphasis added). When reviewing a district court's ruling on a motion to dismiss, the Iowa Supreme Court "accepts as true the petition's well-pleaded factual allegations, but not its legal conclusions." *Shumate v. Drake Univ.*, 846 N.W.2d 503, 507 (Iowa 2014).

C. The Iowa Civil Rights Act Permits Tolling of the Administrative Deadline for Filing a Complaint.

The Iowa Civil Rights Act states that to pursue a claim under chapter 216, the complaint is to be filed within three hundred days after the alleged discrimination occurred. Iowa Code § 216.15(13). However, this requirement, like other filing period deadlines, is subject to "waiver, estoppel and equitable tolling." Iowa Admin. Code r. 161–3.3(3) (2016). The determination of whether the "filing period shall be equitably tolled in favor of a complainant depends upon the facts and circumstances of the particular case." *Id.* A determination of whether a civil rights compliant was timely filed can be made by either the Civil Rights Commission or the district court. *See Ritz v. Wapello Cnty Bd. Of Supervisors*, 595 N.W.2d 786, 792 (Iowa 1999) ("[T]he district court is nevertheless permitted to consider whether the complaint was timely filed.").

The Iowa Supreme Court has also recognized that the Iowa Civil Rights Act is similar to federal discrimination laws and with the exception of those federal interpretations which adopt a narrow construction of the anti-discrimination

statutes, can be instructive for Iowa Courts. See Goodpaster v. Schwan's Home Serv. Inc., 849 N.W.2d 1, 11 (Iowa 2014); Pippen v. State, 854 N.W.2d 1, 28 (Iowa 2014). The seminole case regarding federal court's recognition of equitable tolling for Title VII actions is Reeb v. Economic Opportunity Atlanta, Inc., 516 F.2d 924 (5th Cir. 1975). The court in Reeb was faced with the tasks of determining whether Title VII's filing time limitation was subject to equitable tolling. Id. at 926. The court held that the "period did not begin to run in the [] case until the facts that would support a charge of discrimination under Title VII were apparent or should have been apparent to a person with a reasonably prudent regard for his rights similarly situated to the plaintiff." Id. at 931. The court based this holding on the fact that

Secret preferences in hiring and even more subtle means of illegal discrimination, because of their very nature, are unlikely to be readily apparent to the individual discriminated against. Indeed, employers that discriminate undoubtedly often attempt to cloak their policies with a semblance of rationality, and may seek to convey to the victim of their policies an air of neutrality or even sympathy. These tendencies may even extend to the giving of misleading or false information to the victim, as is alleged in the present case.

Id.

The court ultimately determined the district court had erred and remanded the case to allow the parties to develop the factual record for the issue. *Id.*; *see also Oshiver v. Levin, Fishbein, Sedran & Berman*, 38 F.3d 1380, 1389 (3rd Cir. 1994)

("[W]here a defendant actively misleads the plaintiff regarding the reason for the plaintiff's dismissal, the statute of limitations will not begin to run, that is, will be tolled, until the facts which would support the plaintiff's cause of action are apparent, or should be apparent to a person with a reasonably prudent regard for his or her rights."); *Miranda v. B & B Cash Grocery Store, Inc.*, 975 F.2d 1518, 1531–32 (11th Cir. 1992) (applying *Reeb* and referring to it the "seminal case" in the area of equitable tolling); *Vaught v. R.R. Donnelley & Sons Co.*, 745 F.2d 407, 410–12 (7th Cir. 1984) (same). The Eighth Circuit has also held that "equitable tolling is appropriate when the plaintiff, despite all due diligence, is unable to obtain vital information bearing on the existence of his claim." *Dring v. McDonnell Douglas Corp.*, 58 F.3d 1323, 1328 (8th Cir. 1995).

Although the administrative rules do not specify which equitable exceptions apply to the three hundred period, Iowa law recognizes the discovery rule as one means of tolling. *See generally Callahan v. State*, 464 N.W.2d 268, 273 (Iowa 1990). The discovery rule tolls the statute of limitations, stopping it from running, "until the plaintiff has in fact discovered that he has suffered injury or by the exercise of reasonable diligence should have discovered it." *Steinke v. Kurzak*, 803 N.W.2d 662, 667 (Iowa App. Ct. 2011) (quoting *Chrischilles v. Griswold*, 206 Iowa 453, 463, 150 N.W.2d 94, 100 (1967) (superseded by statute)).

The Court has articulated the reasons for having statute of limitations to include "preventing surprises through the revival of claims that have been allowed to slumber until evidence has been lost, memories have faded, and witnesses have disappeared." Harrington v. Toshiba Mach. Co., 562 N.W.2d 190, 192 (Iowa 1997) (quoting American Pipe & Constr. Co. v. Utah, 414 U.S. 538, 554 (1974)). However, in this case, none of these purposes are advanced by the district court's strict adherence to the statute of limitations. As previously mentioned, the disclosure of IWD's age discrimination came out in a deposition for the Godfrey case and it is unlikely the memories, evidence, and witnesses to the events giving rise to Mormann's case are going anywhere as the *Godfrey* case is still going strong. See Oral Arguments, Iowa Supreme Court, Sept.14, 2016 available at http://www. iowacourts.gov/About the Courts/Supreme Court/Oral Argument Videos/2016 Videos/September 2016 Videos/.

This case is more analogous to the Iowa Court of Appeals' decision in *Wetter* v. Dubuque Aerie No. 568 of the Fraternal Order of Eagles, 588 N.W.2d 130 (Iowa Ct. App. 1998). The plaintiff in Wetter filed a complaint with the ICRC and EEOC alleging sex discrimination. *Id.* at 131. After receiving her right to sue letters, the plaintiff initially brought her action in federal court mistakenly believing the defendant employer had more than eight employees. *Id.* at 132. The federal district court dismissed her claim for lack of subject matter jurisdiction. *Id.* at 131. The

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