IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

NO. 16-1333

MARLON MORMANN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

vs.

IOWA WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT,

Defendant-Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF POLK COUNTY HONORABLE DOUGLAS F. STASKAL, JUDGE

APPELLEE IOWA WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT'S FINAL BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER ATTORNEY GENERAL OF IOWA

DAVID L.D. FAITH, II JEFFREY C. PETERZALEK Assistant Attorneys General Iowa Department of Justice Hoover State Office Bldg., 2nd Floor 1305 East Walnut Street Des Moines, Iowa 50319 Phone: (515) 281-8153 Fax: (515) 281-4209 Emails: David.Faith@Iowa.gov Jeffrey.Peterzalek@Iowa.gov

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

but, even if there was, any interpretation of the unambiguous language above that somehow reads in an equitable exception would be irrational. *See id.* at 589-590 (describing the 2 part test whereby the court assesses first whether the agency was delegated with interpretive authority and, if so, whether the interpretation was rational). Accordingly, the Court should disregard the Iowa Civil Rights Commission's interpretation of Iowa Code Chapter 216. In doing, it is clear from the unambiguous statutory language that there is no equitable exception to the requirement to file within 300 days. The Court should apply the law as written.

II. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT MORMANN'S TIME FOR FILING AN IOWA CIVIL RIGHTS COMPLAINT WAS NOT TOLLED BECAUSE MORMANN POSSESSED ALL THE INFORMATION NECESSARY TO PLACE HIM ON CONSTRUCTIVE NOTICE OF A POTENTIAL CLAIM.

A. Statement on error preservation, scope of review, and standard of review.

IWD does not deny that Mormann preserved error on the issues of tolling and estoppel to the extent of the arguments presented in his written resistance to the pre-answer motion to dismiss, or that the review is for correction of errors at law. Consistent with this Court's ruling on Appellee's Motion to Strike, Mormann did not preserve error as to arguments predicated on new evidentiary claims asserted in the Motion to Reconsider. This should include Mormann's speculation that the Godfrey litigation and / or Theresa Wahlert prohibited people from discussing the hiring process with him, and that this somehow prevented him from discovering the alleged discrimination against him. There is no evidence in the record to support this speculation, and such argument was never made to the district court in Mormann's resistance to the motion to dismiss.³

As to the broader scope and standard of review, it should be noted at the outset that it doesn't really matter whether the Court applies a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim standard, or the more searching standard applied to motions to dismiss on jurisdictional and authority grounds. The reason it does not matter is that all the pertinent facts—the date of nonhiring, the date the civil rights complaint was filed, the contents of the Wahlert deposition and the non-hire letter—are undisputed.

Even in a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim, the court may consider "materials that are part of the public record or do not contradict the complaint, as well as materials that are necessarily embraced by the pleadings." *Miller v. Redwood Toxicology Lab., Inc.*, 688 F.3d 928, 931 (8th Cir. 2012). "The district court may take judicial notice of public

³ In addition to failure to preserve error, an additional reason to disregard such claims is that they appear to be backhanded attempts to reintroduce assertions made in documents that both parties have been ordered not to reference.

records and may thus consider them on a motion to dismiss." *Stahl v. U.S. Dep't of Agric.*, 327 F.3d 697, 700 (8th Cir. 2003); *see also, King v. State*, 818 N.W.2d 1, 6 n.1 (Iowa 2012) (in ruling on a motion to dismiss, courts must ordinarily consider documents incorporated into the complaint by reference).

Mormann has not argued that the court cannot consider the jurisdictional facts he has admitted to and incorporated into his own arguments, nor would it be reasonable for him to do so. He expressly admitted his civil rights complaint was not filed within 300 days of the nonhiring, (Resistance, p. 2; App. 79). He has at no point argued that this fact is not in his petition. Thus, even if he attempted to do so now he has clearly waived the argument and failed to preserve error. The Wahlert deposition is specifically referenced in Mormann's petition. The contents of both the deposition and the no-hire letter have not only been admitted by Mormann, they are positively relied on by him as the basis for his arguments that the Court should toll the period for filing the civil rights complaint and / or estop IWD from asserting a defense. Thus, the Court should treat all the relevant jurisdictional facts as admitted and not subject to any factual dispute that would have to be resolved with evidence.

All that said, it should be noted that the motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim standard of review is not appropriate in this case. The issue here is not whether the factual allegations in Mormann's petition, if true, fail to state a claim. Rather, the issue is that Mormann undisputedly failed to complete a prerequisite for invoking the Court's authority and / or jurisdiction, namely filing a civil rights complaint within 300 days of the alleged incident.⁴ While Mormann "is correct that, when reviewing rulings on motions to dismiss for failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted, we are limited to the well-pleaded facts in the petition and we take those facts to be true . . . that standard does not apply to a review of dismissal rulings premised on jurisdictional issues. ... " Hotchkiss v. International Profit Associates, Inc., No. 09-1632, 2011 WL 1378926, at *1 (Iowa Ct. App. April 13, 2011); see also Tigges v. City of Ames, 356 N.W.2d

⁴ The law appears somewhat unclear as to the applicable standard for review of a dismissal based on statute of limitations. *Compare Harrington v. State*, 659 N.W.2d 509, 521 (Iowa 2003) ("substantial evidence" is the "standard of review applicable to the statute-of-limitations issue") *with Clark v. Miller*, 503 N.W.2d 422, 424 (Iowa 1993) ("Our review is limited to the issues raised by, and the allegations contained in, the pleadings"). Regardless, though there are obvious similarities, the present case is not actually about a statute of limitations. Rather, it involves a requirement found within chapter 216 itself to file a timely civil rights complaint with the Iowa Civil Rights Commission as a jurisdictional prerequisite to having any claim under chapter 216. Thus, it is different than a case where a statute clearly authorizes an action but a separate statute of limitations imposes a procedural time limit on an entire class of claims.

503, 510 (Iowa 1984) (holding that "regardless of the vehicle used to raise the issue," the court must "utilize the most efficient methods at its disposal to determine the *true fact*; and decide the issue promptly") (emphasis added); *see also Percival v. Bankers Trust Co.*, 450 N.W.2d 860, 861 (Iowa 1990) (quoting *State ex rel. Miller v. International Energy Mgmt. Corp.*, 324 N.W.2d 707, 709-10 (Iowa 1982) (Noting, in the context of a jurisdictional challenge, "[t]he trial court's findings of fact have the effect of a jury verdict and are subject to challenge only if not supported by substantial evidence in the record; we are not bound, however, by the trial court's application of legal principles or its conclusions of law.").

As additional persuasive authority, federal courts have also consistently held that judges should decide jurisdictional facts on a motion to dismiss. *See Titus v. Sullivan*, 4 F.3d 590, 593 (8th Cir. 1993) (holding that a 12(b)(1) jurisdictional challenge, as distinguished from a 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim, can consist of *either* a facial attack on the complaint or an attack on the underlying facts asserted as the basis for jurisdiction within a complaint). In a motion to dismiss challenging the factual basis of jurisdiction, the plaintiff does not have the presumption of truthfulness and the court is free to consider matters outside the pleadings. *Osborn v. United States*, 918 F.2d 724, 729 (8th Cir. 1990) ("Jurisdictional

issues, whether they involve questions of law or of fact, are for the court to decide").

Judge Staskal's holding that "the court must promptly determine the material facts and resolve the issue" of jurisdiction or authority, is entirely consistent with best judicial practices and the law (MTD Order, pp. 4-5; App. 73-74). The alternative–requiring full-blown discovery of unrelated issues before courts can weigh the facts necessary to determine whether or not they have authority or jurisdiction to hear the claim in the first place–would be an enormous waste of judicial and party resources.

B. The Wahlert deposition proves Mr. Mormann's non-hiring was because another candidate was selected; not because of his age.

Mormann does not dispute that he failed to file a complaint with the civil rights commission within 300 days after his non-hiring as Deputy Worker's Compensation Commissioner occurred, but instead urges that the filing period be equitably tolled because he had no reason to suspect IWD had refused to hire him because of his age until, on March 18, 2015, he obtained a transcript of a deposition taken of former Iowa Workforce Development Director Teresa Wahlert in an unrelated matter. (Petition, ¶ 21; Civil Rights Complaint ("Complaint"), p. 5; App. 3, 12); *see* Iowa

Code section 216.6(1)(a) (stating it is a discriminatory practice to "refuse to hire" someone "because of the age" of the applicant).

This claim is curious as an initial matter since the Wahlert deposition actually proves that his non-hiring had nothing to do with his age. Ms. Wahlert indicated in her deposition that the selection committee recommended another person for the job and Mormann merely "came in second with the scoring process." (Wahlert Deposition, p. 244; App. 63). This is consistent with an e-mail from a member of the hiring committee to Ms. Wahlert recommending Mormann for the job only "if Ms. Pals does not accept an offer of employment." (Godfrey Email, p. 2; App. 69). Ms. Pals accepted the job, and thus any concerns about Mormann never became a live issue. As Ms. Wahlert put it, she had some concerns regarding:

The statements that Marlon Mormann had made to people and during his interview that he thought he was going to retire. And so I was concerned that training and time would be invested and that perhaps more of a conversation needed to be had to be sure that that investment was appropriate for the long-term.

[However . . .]

Well, we never had to have that discussion. I was saying that I agreed with the first selection that Christopher selected for this particular position and I didn't necessarily agree with whoever came in second with the scoring process that's used for these positions. I believe Mr. Godfrey asked me what my issues were. And I said that it really wasn't important unless we got to the point where we wanted to offer the job for Marlin [sic]

Mormann. So I never stated what my opinions were at the time.

(Wahlert Deposition, p. 244-245; App. 63-64). Thus, the Wahlert deposition actually tends to prove that age never entered into the decision, and even concerns relating to Mormann's own statements never ripened to action since the top candidate accepted the position.

Even if Wahlert had made inquiries into Mormann's retirement plans, that would not be proof of age discrimination. "[M]any courts have recognized that an employer may make reasonable inquiries into the retirement plans of its employees." *Cox v. Dubuque Bank & Trust Co.*, 163 F.3d 492, 497 (8th Cir. 1998) (string citation omitted). This is especially true where an employee has generated rumors about his own retirement and the employer is "entitled to inquire . . . whether the rumors were true." *Woythal v. Tex-Tenn Corp.*, 112 F.3d 243, 247 (6th Cir. 1997). "[W]hen the inquiries are reasonable given the circumstances, a plaintiff should not be able to rely on those inquiries to prove intentional discrimination." *Cox*, 163 F.3d at 497.

In any event, the Wahlert deposition proves conclusively that Mormann was not hired because another candidate was selected and not because of his age. It would thus be curious indeed if it were used as a basis to toll a claim of age discrimination.

C. The Wahlert deposition is not "vital information" such that deadlines should be tolled until Plaintiff obtained it.

Even if concerns about Mormann's own statements that he was going to retire were somehow construed as age discrimination, there is nothing about Wahlert's statement that should toll the filing deadline. Equitable tolling is appropriate only "when the plaintiff, despite all due diligence, is unable to obtain vital information bearing on his claim." Dorsey v. Pinnacle Automation Co., 278 F.3d 830, 836 (8th Cir. 2002) (quoting Dring v. McDonnell Douglas Corp., 58 F.3d 1323, 1327-28 (8th Cir. 1995)). "To determine whether a plaintiff in fact lacked vital information, a court should ask whether a reasonable person in the plaintiff's position would have been aware that he had been fired in *possible* violation of" the applicable civil rights law without such information. Dring, 58 F.3d at 1329 (quoting Chakonas v. City of Chicago, 42 F.3d 1132, 1135-37 (7th Cir. 1994) (emphasis added)); Buechel, 745 N.W.2d at 736 (noting Iowa has adopted an inquiry notice based on "sufficient knowledge of the facts that would put that person on notice of the existence of a problem *or potential problem*) (emphasis added). As numerous courts have noted, "the qualification 'possible' is significant because 'if a plaintiff were entitled to have all the time he needed to be certain his rights had been violated, the statute of

limitations would never run." *Dring*, 58 F.3d at 1329 (quoting *Cada v*. *Baxter Healthcare Corp.*, 920 F.2d 446, 451 (7th Cir. 1990)).

Thus, even if the Wahlert deposition were somehow regarded as additional, cumulative evidence of discrimination, it would not be deemed "vital" information sufficient to justify the extraordinary remedy of disregarding an express statutory 300-day filing requirement, unless plaintiff would have been unable to determine he had even a "possible" claim prior to seeing that deposition. See id. In other words, the deposition has to be not only evidence, but the evidence, the Rosetta Stone without which it was impossible for him to realize he had a claim. This is not the case. "To make a prima facie case under the McDonnell Douglas framework, [a plaintiff must] show that (1) she was a member of the protected group; (2) she was qualified to perform the job; (3) she suffered an adverse employment action; and (4) circumstances permit an inference of discrimination." Lewis v. Heartland Inns of America, L.L.C., 591 F.3d 1033, 1038 (8th Cir. 2010) (citation and internal quotation marks omitted); see also McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S. 792, 793 (1973) (originally stating the standard); Sievers v. Iowa Mut. Ins. Co., 581 N.W.2d 633, 638 (Iowa 1998) (noting that Iowa has adopted the *McDonnell Douglas* framework); *McOuistion v. City* of Clinton, 872 N.W.2d 817, 828 (Iowa 2015) (noting numerous contexts in

which Iowa courts have applied *McDonnell Douglas* to claims of discrimination under Iowa law).⁵ Thus, so long as Mormann was aware of facts establishing a prima facie case he was aware of facts from which a reasonable person (to say nothing of a reasonable judge) should have realized he had a *possible* claim.

A circumstantial inference of discrimination may be drawn when Plaintiff can prove that a younger person got the job. *Beardon v. Int'l Paper Co.*, 529 F.3d 828, 832 (8th Cir. 2008); *Landals v. George A. Rolfes Co.*, 454 N.W.2d 891, 895 (Iowa 1990). Plaintiff did not need reference to Ms. Wahlert's deposition statement to know that he is a member of a protected class, that he wasn't hired, that a younger person was hired, or his own alleged competence—all the elements of a prima facie case of age discrimination. Accordingly, he should reasonably have been aware that he had a "possible" claim prior to learning about the deposition statement. And again, the statement had no bearing on his selection whatsoever because Ms. Pals accepted the offer. The issue of hiring Mr. Mormann never arose.

⁵ A discrimination claim may also be made based on "direct evidence," of discrimination, *Vaughan v. Must, Inc.*, 542 N.W.2d 533, 538 (Iowa 1996), but Mormann has not argued at any point in these proceedings that this is the basis of his claim. In any event, it would not change the inquiry notice analysis since the relevant question is not whether the deposition gave him additional grounds for making a claim, but whether he was on notice of a *possible* claim prior to obtaining that deposition.

Accordingly, since the Wahlert deposition was not necessary to put Plaintiff on notice of a potential claim, and in fact tends to undermine any claim he might have, it should not be the basis for tolling the period of time to file a civil rights complaint.

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